# THE ROLE OF ALCOHOL IN THE OXIDANT ANTIOXIDANT BALANCE IN HEART

# Kathleen H. McDonough

Department of Physiology, 1901 Perdido St., Louisiana State University Medical Center, New Orleans, Louisiana 70112

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Discussion
  - 3.1. Ischemia reperfusion injury
  - 3.2. Hypertrophy
  - 3.3. Exercise
  - 3.4. Endotoxin, cytokines and sepsis
  - 3.5. Heat shock
  - 3.6. Alcohol

4. Conclusion

5. References

### 1. ABSTRACT

The myocardium, like other tissues, has enzyme and non-enzyme systems to neutralize free radicals. The enzymes superoxide dismutase, catalase and glutathione peroxidase and glutathione reductase as well as the nonenzyme antioxidants vitamin E and ascorbic acid are the main antioxidants. Oxidants are produced by the mitochondria under normal conditions and by other sources under pathologic conditions. The quantity of antioxidants present in the myocardium is matched to the production of oxygen free radicals that may be produced under basal physiological conditions. However, the myocardium can be exposed to increased levels of oxygen free radicals under conditions in which myocardial metabolism, i.e. mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation, is accelerated to match the adenosine triphosphate utilized to support the increased work load on the heart or can be exposed to oxygen free radicals under pathologic conditions such as ischemia and reperfusion, inflammation, and cardiotoxic drugs such as anti-cancer agents. Under such circumstances the normal heart has been shown to increase its antioxidant production and to be, with time, protected from further sources of oxygen free radicals. In particular, hearts previously exposed to a stimulus to produce greater antioxidant levels show less damage during ischemia reperfusion injury presumably because of neutralization of oxygen free radicals. This review will present several situations in which the myocardium increases its tolerance to ischemia reperfusion injury as a result of an initial oxidative stress.

### **2. INTRODUCTION**

Oxidant balance in the heart has a very important role in protecting the heart and in allowing normal cardiac contractile performance. In general the amount of antioxidants is sufficient to protect the heart from any oxidant production that might occur under normal circumstances. However, the antioxidant reserves can be inadequate under pathological situations such as ischemia

and reperfusion, inflammation, and administration of cardiotoxic drugs. In these situations, the antioxidant status can be compromised and thus oxidant injury can occur and compromise cardiac performance. Since the function of the heart is to pump a cardiac output that is adequate to meet the blood flow requirements of the peripheral tissues both at rest and at varying levels of tissue activity, a compromise in cardiac function can lead to ischemia and injury of other organs in the body. As such then the heart must balance oxidant production under varying levels of activity. Since the heart requires a continuous supply of high energy phosphate compounds for support of its constant contractile activity, mitochondrial "leak" of oxygen free radicals is a potential problem for which the myocardial cell has developed very effective protective, i.e. antioxidant, These mechanisms include superoxide mechanisms. dismutase and catalase, glutathione and vitamin E which are also found in most other tissues.

Not only is the myocardium optimally designed to neutralize normal levels of production of oxygen free radicals, the myocardium is also able to generate increased levels of antioxidants when it is stressed by an oxidant injury. Interestingly the stresses that induce increased production of antioxidant protective mechanisms can be very different, some related to increased work demand on the heart and others related to impaired blood supply, sepsis or bacteremia, or drug toxicity. All of these forces that induce enhanced production of antioxidants in the heart may do so by one mechanism or by several different mechanisms. Each will be discussed keeping in mind what is causing the increase antioxidant capacity and how the antioxidant capacity is increased.

In the remainder of this discussion, ischemia reperfusion injury will be used primarily as a functional test of the antioxidant capacity of the heart and protection will be correlated with the biochemically determined increase in the antioxidant capacity of the heart subsequent to an initial stress. Prior to discussion of the studies that have shown induction of antioxidant levels in the heart, we will briefly discuss the role of oxygen free radicals in myocardial ischemia reperfusion injury.

### **3. DISCUSSION**

# 3.1. Ischemia Reperfusion Injury

Ischemia and reperfusion are both of potential importance in oxygen free radical production (1,2). Radicals can be formed intracellularly, in the interstitial space and in the vascular space. Most cells in the heart, i.e. myocytes, vascular smooth muscle and endothelial cells, as well as mast cells and infiltrating neutrophils, can produce oxygen radicals. Although the source of oxygen radicals may be different at various time points during reperfusion, in general, it would appear that the major radicals that cause injury are superoxide, hydrogen peroxide and the hydroxyl radical as demonstrated by both direct and indirect methods. Electron resonance spectroscopy and spin trapping agents (3-5) and enhanced chemiluminescence (6) have been used to demonstrate the presence of the superoxide radical during reperfusion. Salicylate, which reacts with hydroxyl radicals to form a stable compound that can be detected in the coronary effluent by high performance liquid chromatography (7), has been used both to show that hydroxyl radicals are produced during reperfusion and also to protect the heart from oxygen radical damage (8). Hydrogen peroxide is probably very important in contributing to myocardial injury in that it is a substrate for iron dependent production of the hydroxyl radical. Efforts have thus been made to block or neutralize these oxygen radicals with more or less specific agents. Superoxide dismutase has been used to convert  $O_2^-$  to  $H_2O_2$ ; catalase to convert  $H_2O_2$  to water; a combination of these two enzymes and a variety of agents to neutralize the hydroxyl radical or prevent its formation by chelating iron which is required for the conversion of hydrogen peroxide to the hydroxyl radical. Many studies have been performed in various models of ischemia reperfusion injury with most showing some protection of the myocardium when oxygen radical scavengers are provided during early reperfusion (9). It would appear that at least one component of the injury due to ischemia and reperfusion is the very early production of oxygen radicals at the initiation of reperfusion.

Interestingly, although the provision of oxygen radical scavengers during reperfusion generally improves recovery from ischemic injury, there is usually some residual damage suggesting that not all injury is due to oxygen free radicals. However, since ischemia reperfusion injury is at least attenuated by the provision of exogenous oxygen radical scavengers, the benefit of increased endogenous antioxidant capacity seems reasonable. Such an induction of antioxidant capacity had originally been demonstrated in lung injury due to hyperoxia. Pretreatment with endotoxin was shown to protect the lungs from oxygen toxicity (10). Application of this pretreatment in order to protect the heart from oxygen toxicity came soon after. At least four different conditions have been shown to protect the heart from ischemia reperfusion injury by increasing endogenous antioxidant balance: hypertrophy, exercise, sepsis or endotoxin or cytokine administration and heat shock.

# 3.2. Hypertrophy

Myocardial hypertrophy in response to a pressure overload due to constriction of the aorta leads to increased levels of several antioxidative enzymes (11-14). Six to 12 weeks after aortic constriction, a stable hypertrophic state exists and superoxide dismutase activity, measured as the inhibition of autoxidation of dopamine, was significantly elevated (11). Glutathione peroxidase activity was also elevated and tissue malondialdehyde, an index of lipid peroxidation, was approximately 25% lower in hypertophied hearts than in control hearts. In a functional assessment of antioxidant capacity, hypertrophied hearts showed a smaller decrease in left ventricular developed pressure and a smaller increase in resting tension when hearts were perfused with an oxygen radical generating system - xanthine plus xanthine oxidase. In another study of hearts in which pressure overload hypertrophy had been induced, levels of reduced glutathione (GSH) and oxidized glutathione disulfide (GSSG) were measured as an index of oxidative stress due to ischemia and reperfusion (12). Total glutathione (GSH + GSSG) was significantly increased in hypertrophied hearts. Glutathione was significantly decreased in control hearts after ischemia and reperfusion and GSSG was increased. Although absolute levels of GSH and GSSG were greater in the hypertrophy group, they did not significantly change with ischemia and reperfusion. In addition, the decrease in myocardial adenosine triphosphate and total adenine pool measured in control hearts at the end of ischemia and after reperfusion did not occur in the hypertrophy group suggesting that ischemia and reperfusion were less of a stress in hearts that had undergone pressure induced hypertrophy. Similar observations have been made in guinea pig hearts after induction of pressure overload by constriction of the aorta (14). At 10 weeks after constriction, myocardial superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase activity were increased as were the levels of GSH and the GSH to GSSG ratio. Interestingly, in this study the levels of superoxide dismutase and the GSH to GSSG ratio decreased below control levels by 20 weeks after aortic constriction, a time point at which evidence of heart failure was present. Thus the development of myocardial hypertrophy was associated with an increased antioxidant status of the heart whereas the transition to heart failure was associated with the decline in antioxidant balance. Whether the decline is the initiating factor in progression from stable hypertrophy to failure remains to be determined.

# 3.3. Exercise

Rigorous exercise has also been shown to stimulate an antioxidant response in the heart. Treadmill running at three different intensities (55, 65 and 75% of maximal oxygen uptake) and three different durations (30, 60 and 90 min /day) induced an increased superoxide dismutase activity in the left ventricle by 10 weeks of training (15). Catalase and glutathione peroxidase did not show a similar increase. The authors speculated that the increase in SOD is in the mitochondria (the cytosolic form of the enzyme is not inducible in heart) and may be important in neutralizing superoxide radicals formed during the elevated mitochondrial activity needed to support the elevated workload of the heart during aerobic exercise. Other investigators have shown that treadmill running for 11 weeks resulted in changes in the heart such that ischemia and reperfusion caused less severe alterations in cardiac performance, diastolic stiffness and adenine nucleotides (16). Swimming exercise, rigorous enough to induce cardiac hypertrophy, also protects hearts from ischemia reperfusion injury (12). Myocardial levels of ATP are better preserved in hearts from trained rats than in hearts from controls and the ratio of GSH to GSSG remains unchanged during reperfusion whereas in control hearts the ratio significantly decreases after ischemia and reperfusion.

# 3.4. Endotoxin, cytokines and sepsis

Administration of a bolus of endotoxin (17), a component of the cell wall of gram negative bacteria, has been shown to protect the heart from ischemia reperfusion injury. This protection is coincidental with an increase in catalase activity whereas superoxide dismutase, glutathione peroxidase, glutathione reductase and glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase levels were unaltered. Protection from ischemia reperfusion injury could be demonstrated 24 hr after administration of endotoxin but not at 1 hr after giving endotoxin. Nor could endotoxin given in the perfusate elicit protection. Inhibition of catalase activity with aminotriazole (given 12 hr after endotoxin and therefore 12 hr before the heart study) reversed the endotoxin-induced protection of the heart from ischemia reperfusion injury. In subsequent studies this same group of investigators pretreatment of demonstrated that rats with monophosphoryl lipid A, a derivative of endotoxin that apparently is non-toxic but does cause the production of cytokines, could also induce protection of the heart from ischemia reperfusion injury and increase catalase activity (18). Administration of the cytokines tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and interleukin 1 (IL-1), both of which are produced in animals after the administration of endotoxin, also induced protection of the heart (19-21). Studies with IL-1 indicated that protection found 36 hr after administration of IL-1 correlated with accumulation of neutrophils in the heart and increased levels of glutathione disulfide (an index of oxidative stress) 6 hr after giving IL-1 (21). As with endotoxin, protection required time to be elicited, i.e., hearts were not protected from ischemia reperfusion injury 1 hr after giving IL-1 or with IL-1 in the perfusate. In this study none of the antioxidant enzymes, including catalase, were elevated compared to control although glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase activity was increased. Depletion of neutrophils by 4 days of treatment with vinblastine, prevented the induction of protection by IL-1 suggesting that the early neutrophil infiltration may have induced an initial oxidative stress that resulted in induction of an increased antioxidant balance in these hearts. The significance of increased glucose-6-phosphate dehvdrogenase (G6PDH) correlating with protection from ischemia reperfusion is suggested by the fact the G6PDH activity, which is necessary for the regeneration of glutathione (GSH) from oxidized glutathione (GSSG), was increased when protection was seen but not increased when protection was not seen, e.g. after vinblastine treatment.

We have recently shown that sepsis, induced by the administration of gram negative bacteria into the dorsal subcutaneous space, can result in protection of the heart from ischemia reperfusion injury 24 hr later (22,23). The mechanism of this protection may be different from that elicited by endotoxin or a cytokine because bacteremia is a continuous insult, i.e. there is bacteremia probably throughout the 24 hr septic episode whereas the endotoxin or cytokines are administered as a bolus. In addition the cytokine profile in sepsis is very different from that found after a bolus dose of endotoxin. Endotoxin administration causes an increase in TNF which peaks at approximately 90 min but declines by 3 hr, and the other cytokines such as interleukin-6 (IL-6) and interleukin-8 (IL-8) increase and decrease sequentially (24-26). In sepsis, as measured in human septic patients, TNF levels and IL-1 levels may or may not be increased but IL-6 and IL-8 may remain elevated for prolonged periods during the septic episode (27,28). Whether the cytokine network in sepsis generates the same pattern of myocardial oxidative stress that is initiated by a bolus of cytokine or if neutrophils mediate the oxidative stress as they apparently do after endotoxin or cytokine administration, remains to be determined. It has been determined though that the myocardial catalase levels are elevated the day after the induction of sepsis - the time at which protection from ischemia reperfusion injury is present. Interestingly, sepsis induced protection of the heart from ischemia reperfusion injury occurs in spite of the fact that sepsis itself has caused a decrease in myocardial performance. This contrasts to the observations made with the bolus administration of cytokines in which myocardial performance appears to be unimpaired by cytokine administration. Also of interest is the fact that sepsis also protects the heart of the 8-10 week alcoholic rat from ischemia-reperfusion injury.

# 3.5. Heat shock

Heat shock has been found to induce changes in isolated cells as well as in organs from animals exposed to hyperthermia (29,30). Exposure of rats to a 42°C environment for as short a period as 30 min has been shown to cause dramatic changes in the inducible heat shock protein 72 (HSP 72) in the myocardium within 24 hr (30). Hearts of animals exposed to the heat shock showed less damage or infarction after 35-min coronary artery occlusion and also showed a better recovery of left ventricular pressure during reperfusion after ischemia. In another study, exposure of rats to hyperthermia for 15 min resulted in elevated levels of catalase as well as improved recovery of the isolated heart and less loss of creatine phosphokinase from the heart after 30 min of global ischemia and reperfusion (29). Although catalase levels were increased, myocardial levels of several other antioxidant enzymes, superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase, were not altered 24 hr after heat shock. The authors postulate that even though the total capacity of catalase to neutralize H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is less than the total capacity of glutathione peroxidase to neutralize H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, the beneficial effect of catalase may reside in the fact that: 1) catalase

appears to be the major mechanism for detoxifying hydrogen peroxide in the rat heart as shown by studies in which catalase is inhibited with aminotriazole (31); 2) catalase does not require a cofactor such as glutathione; and 3) catalase is compartmentalized both in the cytosol as well as in peroxisomes (glutathione peroxidase seems to be located only in the cytosol).

### 3.6. Alcohol

The response of the body to chronic or acute administration of ethanol has been shown to result in generation of oxygen derived free radicals in many tissues (32,33) and to cause alterations in cardiac muscle (34). However, in spite of the fact that acute and chronic administration of ethanol has been shown to affect protein synthesis (35,36), excitation contraction coupling (37-39), myocardial function (40), responsiveness to inotropic agents (41,42), and susceptibility to sepsis induced cardiac depression (43), there has been no clear demonstration that oxygen radical injury causes alcohol induced contractile dysfunction or cardiomyopathy. However, several studies suggest that there may be some changes in the oxidantantioxidant balance due to alcohol administration. Mice given a single dose of ethanol, i.p., (2g/kg) showed mvocardial damage as evidenced by loss of lactate dehydrogenase and histologic changes noted by electron microscopy (44). These alcohol-induced alterations were ameliorated by vitamin E. Chronic administration of alcohol may cause similar changes. Rats given ethanol in the drinking water for 6 weeks had increased levels of myocardial conjugated dienes and slightly decreased levels of glutathione (45). Both of these were reversed by supplementing the diet with vitamin E. Rats fed ethanol and a high fat diet also showed evidence of lipid peroxidation in the heart by spin trapping and electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy (46). Other investigators have been unsuccessful in showing evidence of oxidative stress due to alcoholism. Turkeys given ethanol in their drinking water for 15 weeks had in vivo indications of left ventricular dysfunction and dilation of the heart but elevated levels of the antioxidant enzymes SOD, catalase and glutathione peroxidase and a moderate (10%) decrease in GSH (47). The authors conclude that oxygen free radicals may not play a significant role in alcohol-induced cardiomyopathy, at least in this species which may have greater antioxidant reserves than in other species. Several other studies have shown that chronic administration of alcohol in a liquid diet in which alcohol is 36% of the caloric intake causes an increase in myocardial catalase levels (48,49). We therefore hypothesized that chronic alcohol consumption would increase the antioxidant status of the heart and decrease the injury induced to the heart by ischemia and reperfusion. Therefore animals were fed a liquid diet for 8-10 weeks in which alcohol made up 36% of the total calories (22,23). After chronic alcohol consumption, hearts were removed and studied in an isovolumic preparation. Hearts from alcoholic rats demonstrated normal ventricular developed pressure (systolic pressure minus diastolic pressure) and left ventricular end diastolic pressure. When hearts were made globally ischemic for 35 or 50 min and then reperfused for 25- 30 min, hearts from alcoholic rats

recovered to the same extent, as did hearts from control fed rats. There appeared to be no greater or lesser injury due to ischemia reperfusion injury in alcoholic hearts vs. control hearts. Interestingly however, if alcoholic or control animals were made septic by injecting Escherichia coli into the dorsal subcutaneous space, sepsis induced cardiac depression occurred in both groups of hearts but ischemia and reperfusion caused no further decrease in left ventricular developed pressure in the hearts from septic alcoholic and nonalcoholic rats (100% recovery) whereas recovery of developed pressure was only 80% in the alcohol and control nonseptic groups. Again, alcohol neither potentiated ischemia reperfusion injury nor did it interfere with the mechanisms by which sepsis improves the ability of the heart to recover from oxidant injury imposed by ischemia and reperfusion.

### 4. CONCLUSION

In studies reported in this review, there is an initial, presumably oxidative, stress that initiates increased production of antioxidants in the heart, however, there seems to be no clear pattern of which enzyme or antioxidant component is induced. In some situations (hypertrophy) superoxide dismutase seems to be induced; in other situations (endotoxin, cytokines or sepsis), catalase seems to be induced. Whether the mechanism initiating induction of antioxidants is different or our ability to assess biochemical and functional indices of antioxidant balance is limited is unknown. In general though, independent of the character of the initial stress, i.e. pressure overload hypertrophy, exercise, sepsis or endotoxemia, or heat shock, the outcome is that the heart is protected from ischemia reperfusion injury probably at least partly due to enhanced capacity to neutralize oxygen free radicals.

# **5. REFERENCES**

1. Kukreja RC, ML Hess: The oxygen free radical system: from equations through membrane-protein interactions to cardiovascular injury and protection. *Cardiovasc Res* 26, 641-655 (1992)

2. Repine JE: Oxidant-antioxidant balance: some observations from studies of ischemia-reperfusion in isolated perfused hearts. *Am J Med* 91(supp 3C), 45S-53S (1991)

3. Zweier JL: Measurement of superoxide-derived free radicals in the reperfused heart. *J Biol Chem* 263, 1353-1357 (1988)

4. Baker JE, CC Felix, GN Olinger, B Kalyanaraman: Myocardial ischemia and reperfusion: direct evidence for free radical generation by electron spin resonance spectroscopy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 85, 2786-2789 (1988)

5. Garlick PB, MJ Davies, DJ Hearse, TF Slater: Direct detection of free radicals in the reperfused rat heart using electron spin resonance spectroscopy. *Circ Res* 61, 757-760 (1987)

6. Henry TD, SL Archer, D Nelson, EK Weir, AHL From: Enhanced chemiluminescence as a measure of oxygenderived free radical generation during ischemia and reperfusion. *Circ Res* 67, 1453-1461 (1990)

7. Das DK, GA Cordis, PS Rao, XK Liu, S Maity: High performance liquid chromatography detection of hydroxylated benzoic acids as an indirect measure of hydroxyl radical in heart: its possible link with the myocardial reperfusion injury. *J Chromatogr* 536, 273-282 (1991)

8. van Jaarsveld H, JM Kuyl, GF van Zyl, HC Barnard: Salicylate in the perfusate during ischemia/reperfusion prevented mitochondrial injury. *Res Commun Mol Pathol Pharmacol* 86, 287-295 (1994)

9. Bolli R: Mechanism of myocardial stunning. *Circ* 82, 723-738 (1990)

10. Frank L, J Summerville, D Massaro: Protection from oxygen toxicity with endotoxin: role of endogenous antioxidant enzyme of the lung. *J Clin Invest* 65, 1104-1110 (1980)

11. Gupta M, PK Singal: Higher antioxidative capacity during a chronic stable heart hypertrophy. *Circ Res* 64, 398-406 (1989)

12. Ji LL, RG Fu, EW Mitchell, M Griggiths, TG Waldrop, HM Swartz: Cardiac hypertrophy alters myocardial response to ischaemia and reperfusion in vivo. *Acta Physiol Scand* 151, 279-290 (1994)

13. Singh N, AK Dhalla, C Seneviratene, PK Singal: Oxidative stress and heart failure. *Mol Cell Biochem* 147, 77-81 (1995)

14. Dhalla AK, PK Singal: Antioxidant changes in hypertropied and failing guinea pig hearts. *Am J Physiol* 266, H1280-H1285 (1994)

15. Powers SK, D Criswell, J Lawler, D Martin, F-K Lieu, LL Ji, RA Herb: Rigorous exercise training increases superoxide dismutase activity in ventricular myocardium. *Am J Physiol* 265, H2094-H2098 (1993)

16. Bowles DK, JW Starnes: Exercise training improves metabolic response after ischemia in isolated working rat heart. *J Appl Physiol* 76, 1608-1614 1 (994)

17. Brown JM, MA Grosso, LS Terada, GJR Whitman, A Banerjee, CW White, AH Harken, JE Repine: Endotoxin pretreatment increases endogenous myocardial catalase activity and decreases ischemia-reperfusion injury of isolated rat heart. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 86, 2516-2520 (1989)

18. Nelson DW, JM Brown, A Banerjee, DD Bensard, KB Rogers, CR Locke-Winter, BO Anderson, AH Harken: Pretreatment with a nontoxic derivative of endotoxin induces functional protection against cardiac ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Surg* 110,365-369 (1991)

19. Eddy LJ, DV Goeddel, GHW Wong: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha pretreatment is protective in a rat model of myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Biochem Biophy Res Commun* 184, 1056-1059 (1992)

20. Brown JM, BO Anderson, JE Repine, PF Shanley, CW White, MA Grosso, A Banerjee, DD Bensard, AH Harken: Neutrophils contribute to TNF induced myocardial tolerance to ischemia. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 24, 485-495 (1992)

21. Brown JM, CW White, LS Terada, MA Grosso, PF Shanley, DW Mulvin, A Banerjee, GJR Whitman, AH Harken, JE Repine: Interleukin 1 pretreatment decreases ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 87, 5026-5030 (1990)

22. McDonough KH, KM Causey: Sepsis protects the heart of alcoholic rats from ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 18, 1423-1429 (1994)

23. McDonough KH, KM Causey: Effect of sepsis on recovery of the heart from 50 min ischemia. *Shock* 1, 432-437 (1994)

24. Fischer E, MA Marano, AE Barber, A Hudson, K Lee, CS Rock, AS Hawes, RC Thompson, TJ Hayes, TD Anderson, WR Benjamin, SF Lowry, LL Moldawer: Comparison between effects of interleukin-1-alpha administration and sublethal endotoxemia in primates. *Am J Physiol* 261, R442-R452 (1991)

25. Matrich GD, RL Danner, M Ceska, AF Suffredini: Detection of interleukin 8 and tumor necrosis factor in normal humans after intravenous endotoxin: the effect of antiinflammatory agents. *J Exp Med* 173, 1021-1024 (1991)

26. Fisher E, MA Marano, KJ VanZee, AS Hawes, WA Thompson, L DeForge, JS Kenney, DG Remick, DC Bloedow, RC Thompson, SF Lowry, LL Moldawer: Interleukin-1 receptor blockade improves survival and hemodynamic performance in Escherichia coli septic shock, but fails to alter host responses to sublethal endotoxemia. *J Clin Invest* 89, 1551-1557 (1992)

27. Friedland JS, Y Suputtamongkol, DG Remick, W Chaowagul, RM Strieter, SL Kunkel, NJ White, GE Griffin: Prolonged elevation of interleukin-8 and interleukin-6 concentrations in plasma and of leukocyte interleukin-8 mRNA levels during septicemic and localized pseudomonas pseudomallei infection. *Infect Immun* 60, 2402-2408 (1992)

28. Damas P, D Ledoux, M Nys, Y Vrindts, D De Groote, P Franchimont, M Lamy: Cytokine serum level during severe sepsis in human, IL-6 as a marker of severity. *Ann Surg* 215, 356-362 (1992)

29. Currie RW, M Karamazyn, M Kloc, K Mailer: Heat shock response is associated with enhanced postischemic ventricular recovery. *Circ Res* 63, 543-549 (1988)

30. Donnelly TJ, RE Sievers, FLJ Vissern, WJ Welch, CL Wolfe: Heat shock protein induction in rat hearts. A role for improved myocardial salvage after ischemia and reperfusion? *Circ* 85, 769-778 (1992)

31. Thayer WS: Role of catalase in metabolism of hydrogen peroxide by the perfused rat heart. *FEBS Lett* 202, 937-945 (1986)

32. Nordmann R: Alcohol and antioxidant systems. *Alcohol Alcohol* 29, 513-522 (1994)

33. DiLuzio R: Prevention of the acute ethanol-induced fatty liver by antioxidants. *Physiologist* 6, 169-173 (1963)

34. Urbano-Marquez A, R Estruch, F Navarro-Lopez, JM Grau, L Mont, E Rubin: The effects of alcoholism on skeletal and cardiac muscle. *N Engl J Med* 328, 409-415 (1989)

35. Preedy VR, VB Patel, HJF Why, JM Corbett, ML Dunn, PJ Richardson: Alcohol and the heart: biochemical alterations. *Cardiovasc Res* 31, 139-147 (1996)

36. Preedy VR, TJ Peters: Synthesis of subcellular protein fractions in the rat heart in vivo in response to chronic ethanol feeding. *Cardiovasc Res* 23, 730-736 (1989)

37. Danziger RS, M Sakai, MC Capogrossi, HA Spurgeon, RG Hansford, EG Lakatta: Ethanol acutely and reversibly suppresses excitation-contraction coupling in cardiac myocytes. *Circ Res* 68, 1660-1668 (1991)

38. Thomas AP, EJ Sass, TT Tun-Kirchmann, E Rubin: Ethanol inhibits electrically-induced calcium transients in isolated rat cardiac myocytes. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 21, 555-565 (1989)

39. Tepper D, JM Capasso, EH Sonnenblick: Excitationcontraction coupling in rat myocardium: alterations with long term ethanol consumption. *Cardiovasc Res* 20, 369-374 (1986)

40. Segel LD, SV Rendig, DT Mason: Left ventricular dysfunction of isolated working rat hearts after chronic alcohol consumption. *Cardiovasc Res* 13, 136-146 (1979)

41. Chan TCK, MD Sutter: The effects of chronic ethanol consumption on cardiac function in rats. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 60, 777-782 (1982)

42. Segel LD: Alcoholic cardiomyopathy in rats: inotropic responses to phenylephrine, glucagon, ouabain and dobutamine. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 19, 1061-1072 (1987)

43. McDonough KH, JJ Henry: Chronic alcohol consumption enhances sepsis-induced cardiac dysfunction. *Am J Physiol* 260, H1857-H1863 (1991)

44. Redetzki JE, XE Griswold, C Nopajaronsri, HM Tedetzki: Amelioration of cardiotoxic effects of alcohol by vitamin E. *J Toxicol Clin Toxicol* 20, 319-331 (1983)

45. Edes I, A Toszegi, M Csanady, B Bozoky: Myocardial lipid peroxidation in rats after chronic alcohol ingestion and the effects of different antioxidants. *Cardiovasc Res* 20, 542-548 (1986)

46. Reinke LA, EK Lai, CM DuBose, PS McCay: Reactive free radical generation in vivo in heart and liver of ethanol-fed rats: Correlation with radical formation in vitro. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 84, 9223-9227 (1987)

47. Edes I, Pros G, M Csanady: Alcohol-induced congestive cardiomyopathy in adult turkeys: effects on myocardial antioxidant defense systems. *Bas Res Cardiol* 82, 551-556 (1987)

48. Fahimi HD, M Kino, L Hicks, KA Thorp, HA Abelman: Increased myocardial catalase in rats fed ethanol. *Am J Pathol* 96, 373-386 (1979)

49. Kino M: Chronic effects of ethanol under partial inhibition of catalase activity in the rat heart: Light and electron microscopic observations. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 13, 5-21 (1981)

**Key Words:** Ventricle, myocardial performance, myocardial protection, Alcohol, Review

Send correspondence to: Kathleen H. McDonough, Ph.D., Department of Physiology, LSUMC, 1901 Perdido St., New Orleans, LA 70112, Tel:504-568-6197, Fax:504-568-6158, E-mail: kmcdon@lsumc.edu

Received: 5/1/99, Accepted: 5/20/99